
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 
 

Time and Date 
11.00 am on Tuesday, 23rd April, 2024 
 
Place 
Diamond Room 1 - Council House 
 

 

 
 
Public Business 
 
1. Apologies   

 
2. Declarations of Interests   

 
3. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

 (a) To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 15 January 2024 
 
(b)       Matters Arising 

 
4. Children's Services Comments, Compliments and Complaints Annual 

Report 2022/23  (Pages 7 - 54) 
 

 Report of the Interim Director of Children’s Services 
 

5. Outstanding Issues Report   
 

 There are no outstanding issues 
 

6. Any Other Business   
 

 To consider any other items of business which the Cabinet Member decides to 
take as a matter of urgency because of the special circumstances involved. 
 

Private Business 
 Nil 
 

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House, Coventry 
 
Monday, 15 April 2024 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Usha Patel, Governance Services  
 
 
Membership: Councillors A Jobbar (Deputy Cabinet Member) and P Seaman (Cabinet 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

Member) 
 
By invitation: Councillor J Lepoidevin (Shadow Cabinet Member)  
 
Public Access  
Any member of the public who would like to attend the meeting in person is 
encouraged to contact the officer below in advance of the meeting regarding 
arrangements for public attendance. A guide to attending public meeting can be found 
here: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings 
 
 

Usha Patel, Governance Services  
Email: usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/publicAttendanceMeetings


 
– 1 – 

 

 Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet Member for Children and Young People held at 

1.00 pm on Monday, 15 January 2024 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor P Seaman (Cabinet Member) 

 Councillor J Lepoidevin (Shadow Cabinet Member) 

Employees (by Service Area):  

Children’s Services:  
 
 
Law and Governance:  

M Clayton, H Harper, N McDonald (interim Director of 
Children’s Services), K Robinson, A Whitrick 
 
U Patel 
 

Apologies: Councillor A Jobbar (Deputy Cabinet Member) 
 
 

Public Business 
 
6. Declarations of Interests  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

7. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2023 were agreed and signed as a 
true record. There were no matters arising.  
 

8. Annual Adoption Report  
 
The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Director of Children’s Services 
which presented the City Council’s Annual Adoption Report.  
 
Each local authority in England was obliged by National Minimum Standards to 
formally approve the statement of purpose and children’s guides, and to review 
them at least annually. The Annual Report was presented to meet this obligation. 
Coventry City Council was currently in a partnership arrangement with Adoption 
Central England (ACE), a Regional Adoption Agency. This was a shared services 
arrangement hosted by Warwickshire County Council and ACE was responsible 
for recruiting and assessing adoptive families. It was also involved in matching 
children with adopters in partnership with the child’s social worker. ACE was also 
responsible for administering the Adoption Panel. Therefore, the annual report 
consisted of a report from Coventry City Council regarding children, a report from 
ACE regarding adopters and a report from ACE written by the Chair of the 
Adoption Panel.  
 
Over the past 12 months, staffing had stabilised, and overall good progress had 
been made progressing permanence for children who had a care plan of adoption.  
 
In partnership with ACE, the local authority planned to improve and develop its 
adoption practice in the following key areas:  
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 
– 2 – 

 

 Continue to develop collaborative working across Children’s Services for 
effective pre-birth, pre-proceedings and care proceedings to ensure timely 
permanence is achieved for all children.  

 Continue to reduce the length of time that children wait to be matched 
following the court granting a Placement Order 

 To pilot a new Child Permanence Report that Coventry Children’s Services 
have developed in conjunction with Warwickshire Children’s Services and 
ACE 

 Reduce the length of time that children wait between a child entering care 
and moving in with their adoptive family 

 To further increase and embed fostering for adoption 

 Work with ACE and other local authorities in the ACE group towards ACE 
achieving the Early Permanence Quality Mark, a standard of excellence 
demonstrating a commitment to delivering early permanence for children 
where adoption would be in their best interests.  

 
Coventry had continued to have the highest number of children matched with 
families within the ACE region. Attendance of social workers and the family finder 
at bimonthly adoption clinics and bimonthly adoption “catch-ups” would ensure that 
all children where there was a plan of adoption, were kept under review to avoid 
any drift and delays.  
 
Securing early permanency via foster for adopt had remained a priority, ensuring 
where possible that children secured permanency at the earliest opportunity, 9 
children were successfully placed on this basis.  
 
It was noted that some challenges remained, as there continued to be a national 
shortage of adopters, some children waited longer than others to be placed and 
there was an increase in fostering than adopting. However, it was equally 
important to note that care plans would not be changed if they were right for the 
children but would continue to ensure that the children were matched to the right 
family, even if it meant waiting longer.  
 
With regard to the budget overspend, Members acknowledged that there was a 
pressure on budgets which was felt across all local authorities. The overspend 
was a mix of inflationary pressures and increased cost of interagency placements.  
 
Work would continue to target certain communities and how they perceive 
adoption. In addition, open adoptions, which were available in Northern Ireland, 
were being trialled in England and Wales. This system would allow siblings who 
had been separated to maintain contact.  
 
Members welcomed the report and paid tribute to the excellent work undertaken 
by everyone involved. The Cabinet Member indicated that it was important not to 
lose sight of the child at the centre of everything and to ensure that Coventry’s 
values were maintained.  
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member having considered the report and the 
contributions made at the meeting, endorses the work completed in this area 
of work.   
 
 

Page 4



 

 
– 3 – 

 

9. Coventry Fostering Service Annual Report 2022/23  
 
The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Director of Children’s Services 
which presented the Coventry Fostering Service Annual Report 2022/23. The 
report informed the Cabinet Member of the work undertaken by the Fostering 
Service between April 2022 and March 2023.  
 
The performance of Coventry’s Fostering Service was critical to the delivery of 
high-quality local placements that could meet the diverse needs of Coventry’s 
looked after children.  
 
The report summarised the activity of the service over the past 12 months. It 
highlighted the work of the service to recruit, assess and support foster carers and 
the success in retaining foster carers over the past 12 months. In addition, the 
report detailed the work with connected persons foster carers as part of the 
Coventry Family Valued Project and the start of the Fostering Excellence Project 
which would build on the previous success of the Fostering Transformation Project 
between 2016 and 2021.  
 
The Fostering Service had grown significantly over the last few years. the 
Fostering Transformation Project which took place between April 2016 and March 
2021 was successful in increasing the number of occupied internal mainstream 
fostering placements from 149 to 266 during that period. The work of the 
Connected Persons Team had also grown since 2017, initially as a result of 
improvements in the consistency of practice in supporting connected persons 
households as foster carers. Since April 2021, these improvements in support to 
Connected Foster Carers and Special Guardians had been strengthened by 
becoming a key workstream of the Coventry Family Valued Programme. The aim 
of Children’s Services was that as many children who become looked after as 
possible, could be supported to live with a connected carer. Around half of all 
children looked after in Coventry were cared for by a fostering household 
approved by the Fostering Service.  
 
At the end of March 2023, there were 726 children in the care of Coventry 
Children’s services. Of these, 499 children were placed in foster care, with 362 
being placed with Coventry foster carers. This equated to 73% of those children in 
foster care, an increase from 69% in March 2022. 137 children were placed with 
independent fostering agencies which was a sharp decrease from the 163 in these 
placements on 31 March 2022. Of the total number of looked after children 59.8% 
were placed with Coventry foster carers. This was similar to that at the end of 
March 2021; although the overall number of looked after children was impacted by 
the rise of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children placed in supported 
accommodation in Coventry through the National Transfer Scheme. 
 
It was reported that post covid, recruitment continued to be a challenge locally and 
nationally and it was considered that the cost of living crisis would probably have 
an impact on potential foster carers. There had also been a societal shift in that 
people did not generally stay at home and with both partners working, it made it 
more difficult.  
 
Members noted that a bid had been made to be part of the regional care 
cooperative and the outcome was expected by the end of the January 2024.  

Page 5



 

 
– 4 – 

 

 
Work would continue on the newly issued kinship strategy which aimed to 
enhance overall support for carers. Central to the strategy was a pilot involving 8 
areas that would provide some kinship carers, looking after children previously in 
care, with equivalent allowance to foster carers.  
 
Having considered the report and the representations made at the meeting, the 
Cabinet Member indicated that whilst it was understandable that the pilots were 
looking to standardise financial support, it was important to recognise that there 
were other forms of support that was equally as important such as mental health, 
trauma, etc.  
 
The Cabinet Member thanked all officers, and everyone involved for all their hard 
work and dedication into the progress made.  
 
RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member accepts the Fostering Service Annual 
Report 2022/23.  
 

10. Outstanding Issues Report  
 
There were no outstanding issues.  
 

11. Any Other Business  
 
There were no other items of business.  
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 1.45 pm)  

  

Page 6



 Public report 
Cabinet Member Report 

 
 
 

 

Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 23 April 2024 
 
Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People – Councillor Seaman 
 
Director approving submission of the report: 
Interim Director of Children’s Services 
 
Ward(s) affected: 
All 
 
Title: 
Children’s Services Comments, Compliments and Complaints Annual Report 2022/23 
 
 
Is this a key decision? 
No 
 

 
Executive summary: 
There is a statutory duty for the Council to have a system for receiving representations 
by, or on behalf of, children who use the social care services they provide or 
commission; and for the Council to produce an annual report about the operation of the 
complaints procedure. 
 
This report sets out the details of the comments, compliments and complaints for 
Children’s Services in 2022/23. It highlights the themes that arise from them and the 
learning and service improvements that have resulted from the feedback received. 
 
Recommendations: 
The Cabinet Member is recommended to: 

(1) Approve publication of the annual report in relation to complaints and 
representations in children’s services in 2022/23. 

 
List of appendices included: 
Appendix I – Children’s services complaints and representations annual report 2022/23 
Appendix II – Coventry City Council Complaints Handling Guidance 
 
Background papers: 
None 
 
Other useful documents 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=171
https://edemocracy.coventry.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=171
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/7/councillors_and_mps/484/the_cabinet/5
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/childrenssocialcare/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/infoandstats/


 

 

Young people's guide to making a social care complaint 
https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/37/childrens_social_care/625/ 
 
Complaints Managers' Group (May 2016) Good Practice guidance for handling 
complaints concerning adults and children social care services 
https://www.adass.org.uk/media/5360/good-practice-guidance-final-09062016.pdf 
 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Guidance for bodies in our jurisdiction 
to support good complaint handling https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-
centre/reports/advice-and-guidance/guidance-notes  
 
Department for Education (September 2006) statutory guidance for local authority 
children’s services on representations and complaints procedures 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-getting-the-best-from-
complaints  
 
Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny? 
No 
 
Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory 
Panel or other body? 
No 
 
Will this report go to Council? 
No 
  

Page 8

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/37/childrens_social_care/625/
https://www.adass.org.uk/media/5360/good-practice-guidance-final-09062016.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/advice-and-guidance/guidance-notes
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/advice-and-guidance/guidance-notes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-getting-the-best-from-complaints
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-getting-the-best-from-complaints


 

 

Report title:  
Children’s Services Comments, Compliments and Complaints Annual Report 
2022/23 

1 Context (or background) 
1.1 There is a statutory duty for the Council to have a system for receiving 

representations by, or on behalf of, children who use the social care services they 
provide or commission; and for the Council to produce an annual report about the 
operation of the complaints procedure. 

 
1.2 This report sets out the details of the comments, compliments and complaints for 

children’s services in 2022/23. It highlights the themes that arise from them and the 
learning and service improvements that have resulted from the feedback received. 

2 Options considered and recommended proposal. 
 
2.1 Between 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023, there were 229 statutory, corporate, and 

informal complaints received about children's services. That is, 167 statutory 
complaints, 14 corporate complaints and 48 informal complaints. The number of 
complaints under the statutory process has decreased from 167 received in 
2022/23, 177 were received in 2021/22 ,141 received in 2020/21, 163 received in 
2019/20.  

 
2.2 363 compliments were received during 2022/23, compared to 502 received in 

2021/22 and 445 received in 2020/21. 
 
2.3 21 complaints were made by children and young people themselves or from an 

advocate complaining on behalf of a child; the remainder were from adults. There has 
been a slight increase in the number of children or young people using an advocate 
to make a complaint – 19 complaints received during 2022/23 compared to 14 
complaints in 2021/22, 8 in 2020/21, 13 in 2019/20 and 11 in 2018/19. 

 
2.4 Two main themes continue to be identified as arising from the complaints by and on 

behalf of users in 2022/23: issues regarding poor communication with users; and 
concerns about the standards of service provided. 

 
2.5 Themes from compliments were predominantly around the good standard of 

practice received from individual social workers and the overall standard of service 
received from teams. It is not currently possible to distinguish between compliments 
from children and young people themselves, or carers, or staff without manually 
going through every compliment. A selection of compliments from children and 
young people and families have been included in the appendix. 

 
2.6 Appendix I sets out the children’s services comments, compliments and complaints 

annual report for 2022/23, highlighting trends and the themes that has arisen from 
complaints and the learning and service improvements that have resulted from the 
feedback received. 

 
2.7 Appendix II sets out the Council’s guidance for handling complaints. 

3 Results of consultation undertaken 

Page 9



 

 

 
3.1 None identified or undertaken. 

4 Timetable for implementing this decision 
 
4.1 Areas for development and improvement have been included within the divisional 

and relevant team plans for implementation in 2022/23. 

5 Comments from the Director of Finance and Resources and Director of Law 

and Governance 

 
5.1 Financial implications 

There are no direct financial implications associated with this report. Financial 
remedies resulting from any complaints are paid out of service budgets. All 
complaints relating to financial issues were investigated and rectified accordingly. In 
2022/23 there was 1 complaint which resulted in some form of financial remedy or 
reimbursement. This is detailed in Ombudsman section of the report. The amount 
paid out in 2022/23 was £500. 

  
5.2 Legal implications 

This report meets the legal requirement for the Council to monitor arrangements 
made in accordance with regulations by keeping a record of each representation 
received and compiling a report every 12 months on the operation of the procedure. 

6 Other implications 
 
6.1 How will this contribute to the Council Plan? 

This annual report sets out the progress made by the service towards the Council 
Plan vision to be locally committed, by improving the quality of life for Coventry 
people, by contributing to the priority to protect our most vulnerable people. 
Children, young people and others acting on their behalf are encouraged to report 
any concerns about the care and services they are receiving so that these can be 
addressed quickly. 

 
6.2 How is risk being managed? 

There are reputational as well as financial risks when things go wrong. It is, 
therefore, important that the Council takes action and learns from the outcome of 
complaints. 

 
6.3 What is the impact on the organisation? 

The co-ordination and management of complaints involves considerable officer 
time. Therefore, where things have gone wrong, it is important for the Council to put 
things right, learn from the experience and make the necessary improvements. The 
feedback that is received from complaints and other representations is reported to 
managers on a regular basis to inform service planning and improvements. 

 
6.4 Equalities and equality and consultation analyses (ECA) 

ECAs have been built into the delivery of work in children’s services. As part of 
continuous improvement, the service will continue to review the integration of 
equality and diversity into operational practice and performance monitoring. 
 

Page 10



 

 

The Service Recovery Team will collect data on complainants by protected 
characteristics such as ethnicity, sex and disability status from 2022/23 onwards. 
This will enable the Council to identify if its complaints policy is operating as 
intended, eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity in line with 
the public sector equality duty. 

   
6.5 Implications for (or impact on) climate change and the environment 

None 
 
6.6 Implications for partner organisations? 

Children’s services may be delivered in-house, or by external agencies for instance 
partner organisations commissioned by the local authority. The responsibility 
remains with the Council even when services are delivered by external agencies or 
partner organisations. Therefore, it is important for the Council and partner 
organisations to learn from the experience when things go wrong and work together 
to make the necessary improvements. 

Report author(s): 
 
 
Name and job title:  
 
Ilius Ahmed 
Service Recovery Officer 
 
Steve Paterson  
Service Recovery Officer 
 
Kelly Boyce 
Service Recovery Officer 
 
Isaac Hawi  
Ombudsman Liaison Officer 
 
May Anderson  
Administration  
 
 
 
Contact: 
CLYPCustomerRelations@coventry.gov.uk  
 
Enquiries should be directed to the above person.  
15/04/2024 15:39:27 
 

Contributor/ 
approver 
name 

Title Service Date doc 
sent out 

Date response 
received or 
approved 

Contributors: 

Judith Jones Strategic Lead – Quality 
Assurance 

Children’s 
Services - 

29/02/202
4 

10/04/2024 

Page 11

mailto:CLYPCustomerRelations@coventry.gov.uk


 

 

Quality 
Assurance 

Rachael 
Sherwood 

Customer Service 
Manager – Improvement 
& Development 

Customer 
Services 

23/01/202
4 

24/01/2024 

Jaspal Mann Equality and Diversity 
Officer 

Public Health 29/02/202
4 

29/02/2024 

Chris Heeley Strategic Lead – Early 
Help and Protection  

Children’s 
Services - 
Help & 
Protection 

29/02/202
4 

28/03/2024 

Angela 
Whitrick/Matt 
Clayton 

Strategic Lead – Looked 
After Children 

Children’s 
Services - 
Looked After 
Children 

29/02/202
4 

13/03/2024 

Usha Patel Governance Services 
Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

29/02/24 20/03/24 

Names of approvers for submission: (officers and members) 

Sarah Kinsell  Finance Manager Finance 19/03/202
4 

19/03/2024 

Legal: Julie 
Newman 

City Solicitor and 
Monitoring Officer 

Law and 
Governance 

29/02/202
4 

06/03/2024 

Neil 
Macdonald 

Interim Director of 
Children’s Services 

Children 
Services  

29/02/202
4 

12/03/2024 

Members:  
Councillor 
Seaman 

Cabinet Member (Children and Young 
People) 

29/02/202
4 

15/04/2024 

 
This report is published on the Council’s website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings/ 

Page 12

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings/


   

 

2 
 

1 

Children’s Services Complaints 

and Representations Annual 

Report 2022-23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 7



   

 

2 
 

 

P
age 8



   

 

3 
 

Table of contents 
Infographic ............................................................................................................................................. 2 

Welcome ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

Background ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

Summary ................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Feedback ................................................................................................................................................ 5 

Advocacy ................................................................................................................................................ 6 

Complaints ............................................................................................................................................. 6 

Statutory complaints ................................................................................................................................. 6 

Resolution of complaints ........................................................................................................................... 8 

Timescales ............................................................................................................................................. 9 

Equality ................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Ombudsman ........................................................................................................................................ 12 

Comments ............................................................................................................................................ 12 

Compliments ........................................................................................................................................ 13 

Service improvements and learning points .............................................................................................. 16 

Further information ................................................................................................................................. 26 

Welcome 
Welcome to the 2022/23 complaints and representations annual report. As part of the Council’s 
commitment to openness, quality assurance, service development and listening and learning from 
service users, this report provides summary information from comments, compliments and complaints 
received under the statutory procedures in relation to children’s services provided by or commissioned 
by Coventry City Council for the year 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023. 

Background 
Local Authorities are required by law (Children Act 1989, plus subsequent changes including the Local 
Authority Social Services Complaints Regulations (1990) as a result of the Adoption and Children Act 
2002 and the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003) to have a system 
for receiving representations made by or on behalf of children who use the Children’s Services they 
provide or commission. These include social work services, residential care, fostering, adoption and 
the provision of support to families, children with disabilities and young people in trouble with the law. 
Representations are defined as comments, compliments and complaints. Local Authorities are required 
by law to appoint a complaints officer to oversee all aspects of the procedure. 

 
Some complaints received do not meet the criteria to be dealt with under the statutory procedure. When 
this is the case, these are registered under the Council's corporate complaints procedure. The 

Page 9



   

 

4 
 

arrangements for handling these complaints are different from the statutory process in terms of 
timescales and the independence of the people who investigate and review the complaints. Children 
Services has a nominated officer assigned to the management of representations from children and 
others who present feedback on children’s services. 

The purpose of the comments, compliments and complaints system is to ensure that: the views and 
experiences of people who use services are heard; positive feedback is used to develop services and 
acknowledge good practice; things that have gone wrong are put right; the organisation learns from both 
positive and negative feedback; and the organisation sustains its focus on service users / customers / 
citizens. 
 
Reference is made to the range of representations received and responses to them, and specific trends 
and issues that emerged in the reporting period. 

Summary 
In 2022/23 children’s services completed 26,677 contacts and received 4,912 referrals. This compares to 
28,103 and 4,987 in 2021/22. As of 31 March 2023, there were 3,702 referrals open to children’s services, 
compared to 3,307 a year ago.  

The total number of statutory and informal complaints received about children’s services in 2022/23 
was 229, compared to 235 received in 2021/22. The 229 complaints received consist of 167 statutory 
complaints, 14 corporate complaints and 48 informal complaints.    

The number of complaints under the statutory process has decreased to 167 received in 2022/23, 
compared to 177 in 2021/22 ,141 received in 2020/21 and,63 received in 2019/20. 

21 complaints were made by children and young people themselves or from an advocate complaining 
on behalf of a child; the remainder were from adults. There has been an increase in the number of children 
or young people using an advocate to make a complaint – 19 complaints received during 2022/23 
compared to 14 complaints in 2021/22, 8 in 2020/21, 13 in 2019/20 and 11 in 2018/19 

 
Two main themes could be identified as arising from the complaints by and on behalf of users in 2022/23: 
issues regarding poor communication with users; and concerns about the standards of service provided. 
 
Themes from compliments were predominantly around the good standard of practice received from 
individual social workers and the overall standard of service received from teams. 
 

Description of Complaint Types 

Coventry City Council’s complaints policy sets out how individual members of the public can complain to 
the Council, as well as how the Council handle compliments, comments and complaints.  

 

Informal 

Where possible, complaints should be resolved informally. The complaint is usually sent to a Team 
Manager to make contact with the individual to discuss their concerns to ensure a resolve can be 
actioned as soon as possible. 

If this is not possible, complainants can formally complain to the Council. Informal matters can also be 
related to concerns that require resolution or follow up investigation outside of the formal process. 

 

Statutory 

Complaints about Children’s Services follow the statutory process if they are not able to be resolved 
informally. Complaints that fall under the Statutory complaints process are complaints made by children, 
young people, parents and carers. 

Page 10



   

 

5 
 

 

 

All other complaints relating to Council services are dealt with by the corporate complaints policy. 

 

Corporate 

A Corporate complaint example would be as follows: When a member of the public who is not a service 
user or a holder of parental responsibility for a young person request that their concerns are investigated 
formally.  

 
 
 

Feedback 
Promoting feedback 
Comments, compliments and complaints can tell the Council a great deal about the service users' 
experiences of service delivery, professional practice and the outcome of management decisions. 
Children’s services welcome this feedback and encourages children, their advocates and anyone who 
uses the service or who is affected by it, to make their views known. 

 
Where possible, issues/complaints should be handled at the point of delivery. It is when a person feels 
that they are still not satisfied, then it is recorded as a formal complaint and investigated as such. The 
length of time to investigate and resolve complaints depends on their complexity. Where there are 
particular complexities that will require an elongated period of investigation, a timescale is agreed with 
the complainant. 

Providing feedback 
People can provide feedback directly to the service or team; to customer services; or to the Complaints 
Officer. Further information about how to make a complaint, access advocacy or support, and the 
complaints process is available on the Council’s website at www.coventry.gov.uk/comments.It is vitally 
important that the comments, complaints and compliments system is easily accessible. This maximises 
the opportunities for individuals to make their views known. Complaints can be accepted through the 
contact centre via a visit to the centre, by letter, by an online form or by telephone. Complaints may 
also be made directly to the team that is providing them with a service. Sometimes, complaints are also 
made via elected members (Councillors), the Chief Executive, or directly to senior managers. 
Complaints can also be referred to the Council from the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman (LGSCO). Complainants who contact the complaints team directly are encouraged to use 
the contact centre to ensure that their complaint can be processed efficiently. 

 
In 2022/23, the majority of complainants chose to make a complaint via email or through the contact 
centre. 

Page 11

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/comments


   

 

6 
 

Advocacy 
Of particular importance is the need to inform children of their opportunity to make representations and 
to find methods they can easily use. There have been 21 complaints from children and young people 
themselves this year, compared to 23 last year. Work has taken place with Barnardo’s advocacy service 
to ensure that more feedback is received from children and young people. 

 
Since 1st April 2004, the Advocacy Services and Representations Regulations 2004, have required 
councils to make arrangements for the provision of advocacy to children and young people making 
representations under the Children Act 1989. Of the 21 children and young people making complaints 
during the year, 19 used an advocate to support them in making their complaint. Since April 2006, the 
Council has commissioned Barnardo’s to provide an advocacy service. 

Complaints 
The Council received 167 statutory children’s services complaints. It also dealt with 14 corporate       
complaints and 48 informal. 

 
The table below indicates how the complaint was received: 

 
Method Number of 

Complaints 
Email 115 

Online form / Contact Centre 51 
Letter 1 
Total 167 

 
Note: table above includes non-statutory and informal issues. Not knowns excluded. 

Statutory complaints 
167 statutory complaints were received about children’s services in 2022/23. This compares to 177 in 
2021/22. 

Statutory complaints overtime 

123

148

116

133

102
117

133
147

156
142

163

141

177 167

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Page 12



   

 

7 
 

Listening to service users' complaints helps services improve by helping managers identify changes 
that are required. When complaints are received, they are reviewed to see if the concerns can be 
resolved informally in the first instance. The statutory procedures offer a three-stage process, and the 
corporate procedures offer a two-stage process, both of which aim to provide a satisfactory resolution 
to any complaint, preferably as quickly as possible. 

 

The table below sets out the number of complaints in 2022/23 by resolution. The majority of complaints 
were either Partially Upheld or Withdrawn by the complainant or include concerns relating to ongoing 
court cases.  

Statutory complaints by upheld status 
 

Statu
s 

Number of 
complaints 

% 

Upheld 8   5% 
Partly upheld 57 34% 
Not upheld 43 26% 
Complaints withdrawn 59 35% 
Still Open 0 0% 
Total 167 100% 

Statutory complaints by team 
 

  The below table shows a breakdown figure of number of complaints received per team 
in 2022/23.  

 
Team Complaints 

Through Care 32 
Team West 40 
Children’s Disability Team 3 
Looked After Children 29 
Team South 11 
Team East 17 
Team Central 15 

 
Team Complaints 

Fostering & adoption 2 
MASH 6 
Quality & Assurance 1 
Social Work Academy 5 
Early Help (Team West) 1  
Early Help (Team East) 1 
Placements 1 
Safeguarding 3 
Total 167 

 

 

 

Page 13



   

 

8 
 

Resolution of complaints 
Local resolution (Stage 1) 
The service aims to resolve concerns, whenever possible informally or at Stage 1. At this stage, the 
allocated manager (usually the manager responsible for the service being complained about) will 
identify what is needed so that the complainant feels able to continue to work with the service. Examples 
of the types of resolutions offered   can be found later in this report. 
 
There were 167 statutory complaints, of which 149 were resolved at Stage 1. 89% of complaints were 
resolved at Stage 1 of the complaints process, compared to 92% during 2021/22. Considering that there 
was a decrease of statutory complaints by 3% compared to 2021/22, this shows an improvement on 
last year of the number of statutory complaints resolved at Stage 1. Our Internal Investigation Outcome 
Form in 2021/22, helps us to gather more learning internally to help to keep the percentage of 
complaints resolved at stage one of the process at a high level. 
 

Formal investigation (Stage 2) 
In certain circumstances a formal investigation of the circumstances leading to a complaint is a more 
appropriate response, although this tends to be a lengthier process. This may be required when 
complainants remain dissatisfied with the conclusion reached at Stage 1 or when the complaint is 
particularly complex or involves a number of service areas. These investigations are always conducted 
by someone outside the direct line management of the service and the person about whom the 
complaint is being made. 

 
In 2022/23, there were 11 Statutory Stage 2 complaints and 2 Corporate Stage 2 investigations, 
compared with 13 Statutory Stage 2 complaints and 3 Corporate Stage 2 investigations in 2021/22.  
 
The investigations for the Statutory Stage 2 complaints were undertaken by external commissioned 
investigators. At the conclusion of these Stage 2 investigations the investigating officers/persons' reports 
are read by senior manager who acts as an Adjudicating Officer for them to consider and act upon 
before a response is sent to the complainant. The Corporate Stage 2 complaint were investigating by 
Senior Managers and not reviewed by commissioned investigating officers.  

Review panel (Stage 3) 
Within the statutory complaint’s procedure, where complainants are dissatisfied with the outcome of a 
formal investigation at Stage 2, they can request that a review panel of three independent people be 
convened to examine the investigation. Review panels can make recommendations to the Director of 
Children’s Services if they conclude that the complaint is justified, or that more could be done to resolve 
the matter, or if they feel the Council should take action to prevent similar situations arising in the future. 

 
There were 7 Stage 3 complaints received and 2 of these were reviewed by an independent panel 
during 2022/23. The other 5 stage 3 complaints were withdrawn. This was higher compared to 2021/22 
where 1 Stage 3 complaint was received. The majority number of complaints are resolved during Stage 
1 of the complaints process and the number of Stage 3 complaints received is relatively very low in 
comparison to how many complaints have been received in 2022/23.  

Page 14



   

 

9 
 

Timescales 
The statutory legislation and corporate procedures set out timescales for dealing with complaints at 
each stage of the process. The timescales are as follows: 

 
Stage Statutory complaints Corporate 

complaints 
1 10 working days (can be extended to 20 

working 
10 working days 

2 25 working days (can be extended to 65 
working 

20 working days 

3 Within 50 working days of complainant's 
request 

Not applicable 

 
The complexity of Children’s Services issues means that complaint resolution can sometimes be 
protracted, and achievement of the timescales can suffer as a result. Not all potential delays are due 
to delays within the Council, they are also due to the complainant submitting additional complaints or 
the complainant providing further information. The complaints officer/team undertakes rigorous 
monitoring of progress in relation to responding to complaints via a weekly RAG report which is shared 
with senior management.  

Statutory complaints by stage and timescales 
 

Stag
e 

Timescales Number of 

1 Within 10 working 
days 

  99 

Over 10 working 
days 

50 

2 Within 25 – 65 
working days 

6 

Over 25 - 65 
working days 

5 

3 Within 50 working 
days 

2 

Withdrawn 5 
Total  167 

Average timescales investigated by stage in working days 
 

Stage Number of 
complaints 

Average 
timescales 

1 149 9 
2 11 48 
3 2  26 

Not including 5 stage 3 complaints that were withdrawn.  

The average time in days to complete Stage 1 complaints is 9 working days in 2022/23, compared to 
7 days in 2021/22. This is an increase of 2 days. Weekly meetings with senior managers have ensured 
that complaint timescales were maintained on a regular basis despite an increase in the number of 
complaints. 

 

Investigations of Stage 2 complaints under the statutory procedure often need to be extended beyond 

Page 15



   

 

10 
 

the 25 working days timescale up to 65 working days due to the complexity of the issues being 
considered. In these situations, the importance of keeping the complainant informed and securing their 
agreement to an extension of the timescales, is recognised and addressed. Stage 2 complaints were 
resolved within an average of 48 working days in 2022/23 compared to an average of 34 working days 
in 2021/22. 2022/23 has seen an increase in investigation times for Stage 2 complaints from the 
previous year by 14 days. All Stage 2 complaints were responded to within the maximum 65 working 
days response timeframe, except for one complaint which was delayed due to exceptional 
circumstances with the Independent Investigating Officer. This was beyond the control of the Local 
Authority. 

 
The two Stage 3 complaints were resolved within 26 working days compared 35 working days in 
2021/22. 2022/23 has shown on average, that Children’s Services has achieved resolving complaints 
within the statutory timescale guideline of 10 working days for Stage 1 complaints. The data shows that 
complaints at Stage 2 were also resolved on average within the statutory timescale guidelines of 20-65 
working days. Further data shows that the Stage 3 complaints received were investigated within the 
statutory timeline of 50 working days.  
 
 

Equality  

During 2022-23, we captured Equality Data to obtain further information and a characteristic insight on 
the complainants and service users who made complaints within Children’s Services. The below graphs 
illustrate the data captured but this does not include complaints submitted for the SEN service area as 
we were unable to obtain those details, due to equality data not being required when SEN complaints 
are registered. 

 
The below graph shows out of 229 complaints received during 2022-23 (excluding SEN), 103 were 
from male complainant’s/service users, 94 were from female complainant’s/service users and 32 were 
non- applicable (N/A) as they were made by the public and not service users, therefore those details 
were not captured. 

 

 
 

The below graph shows the age range of the complainant or service user. 164 (72%) of the complaints 
received in 2020-21 (excluding SEN) were from or submitted on behalf of young people under the age 
of 16, 34 (14%) of complaints received were from or submitted on behalf of young people between the 
ages of 16-24. Age 25-34 both received 1 complaint (1%). 30 (13%) were non-applicable (N/A). 

45

41

14

0 10 20 30 40 50

Male

Female

N/A

Gender

Page 16



   

 

11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Out of the 229 complaints received in 2022-23, 135 (60%) of the complainant’s/service users were White 
British, followed by White and Black Caribbean with 13 (6%). 8 complaints were received from an African 
background (4%). 6 complaints were from a White and Asian background (3%) and Indian (3%).Other 
White Background, and Any other Asian background both received 5 complaints (2%) each. Any Other 
Black/African/Caribbean Background, Any other ethnic group and Any Other Mixed Background received 
3 complaints (1%) each.  White and Black African received 2 complaints (0.8%). Gypsy or Irish Traveller, 
Pakistani and Caribbean all received 1 complaint (0.4%) each. 35 complaints (15%) were unable to be 
captured. 

 

The data captured during 2022-23 showed that 8 (4%) of complainants had a disability and that 186 
(81%) did not, with 35 (15%) as non-applicable (N/A) due to this information not being able to be 
captured. 

 

60

15

6

4

3

3

2

2

1

1

1

0.8

0.4

0.4

0.4

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

White British…

N/A

White and Black Caribbean

African

White and Asian

Indian

Other White Background

Any other Asian background

Any other mixed background

Any other Black/African/Caribbean…

Any other ethnic group

White and Black African

Gypsy or Irish Traveller

Pakistani

Caribbean

Ethnicity

72

14

13

1

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

<16

16-24

N/A

25-34

Age

Page 17



   

 

12 
 

 

 
 
 

Ombudsman 
If the complainant remains unhappy following the outcome of the Council’s complaints process, they 
have the option of taking their complaint to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
(LGSCO). 

 

In 2022/23, the LGSCO received 18 complaints or enquiries relating to the category of education and 
children’s services for Coventry City Council. The LGSCO does not separate Education and Children’s 
Services and do not necessarily inform the Local Authority of every complaint or enquiry received, so 
it is unclear how many of these related specifically to children’s services. 

 
Please note that this figure is an estimate, as on occasion when the annual letter is received in July, 
the LGSCO include some other decisions as full investigations- currently, only decisions that were 
either held or not upheld have been included. 

 
The LGSCO undertook full investigations for 1 Children’s Services case. The decision/outcome of this 
case was Upheld.  
 
Mr H complained the Council did not tell him about a child protection investigation concerning his son. 
The Council accepted it acted with fault and offered Mr H a suitable remedy. The Council offered to 
apologise to Mr H and pay him £500 to recognise the distress its actions caused. The LGSCO 
confirmed the Council’s offer to be a suitable remedy and was completed and satisfied. 
 
 

Comments 
People may also express disappointment, disagreement or observations about services without 
necessarily wanting to complain. Feedback of this nature will be recorded as a comment on the Council’s 
central customer relationship management and forwarded to the relevant service area for consideration 
and action. 

 
No comments were recorded in 2022/23. 

81

15

4

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

No

N/A

Yes

Disability

Page 18



   

 

13 
 

Compliments 
 
Compliments tell the Council what people appreciate about services and the way they are provided. 
Positive feedback also encourages and motivates staff and enables them to celebrate their good 
performance. Every compliment received is shared with the individual or team to whom it refers and 
copied to the relevant managers. 

 
363 compliments were received during 2022/23, compared to 502 received in 2021/22 and 445 received 
in 2020/21. 
 
The majority of compliments reflected satisfaction about the standard of practice in social work; and 
the standard of service provided by a social worker and/or child and family worker. Other compliments 
received and categorised were about good partnership working; child-centred practice; and the quality 
of communication. 

 
Compliments recorded include those from other professionals and partner organisations, for instance, 
advocates, police officers, judges, schools; as well as compliments from foster carers and service 
users, for instance, parents/carers, children and young people, and other family members. 
It is not currently possible to distinguish between compliments from children and young people 
themselves, or carers, or staff without manually going through every compliment. 

 
 
 
 
 

Below is a selection of compliments from children/young people and parents/carers to Children 
Services Teams.  

: 
[Name] is always timely in providing me with 

information and always returns calls and keeps 
me in the loop with any developments. I also think 

that [Name] has a positive relationship with the 
carer, who feels comfortable with [Name] visiting 

her home etc. 
 

What a breath of fresh air Early Help have been! 
The clarity and knowledge from you lot has been 
invaluable to me as a Mum who is feeling wobbly 
with trying to do the best I can. I can't thank you 
enough, now on to the next bits. Wish me luck! 

 
I just wanted to take this time to thank you and 

your team for being so lovely to me yesterday and 
making me feel so welcome. The team really are 
a credit to you [Name] and are all obviously so 
passionate about the jobs they do! I was totally 

impressed and blown away during the team 
meeting regarding how forward thinking the team 
are and are embedding contextual safeguarding 
in to so many of their approaches to tackle child 

exploitation. 

 
                                                                                   I 
am writing to let you know how [Name] has  been an 

excellent  link worker  to me for the whole of last 
year.  Every year he gives 100% and  goes over and 

beyond in his practice, totally dedicated, non-
judgemental and knowledgeable in his field. His 

ability to empathise with needs, circumstances in 
placement is a quality that I find very helpful.  His 

communication is top-notch, His people skills , ability 
to built a good working relationship even with the 
children in my care is something which I find very 

recommendable. He is always on top of things and 
he takes prompt professional actions. He is an 

outstanding Social worker. 

Page 19



14 

   

 

 

I just wanted to say a big big thank you for 
everything you did for us all I won't ever forget it 
you changed my life around. And you are brilliant 

at your JOB. I WON'T MESS UP PROMISE 
THANK YOU 

 
 

I felt very comfortable speaking to [Name] 
compare to other professionals because she 

spoke to me in a way that made me feel like a 
peer rather than like a kid like a lot of 

professionals have which makes me feel quite 
awkward. And we have lots of common interests 
which I think helped. [Name] has been amazing 

throughout. She has been available for any 
concerns/question and help in anyway possible. 

 
I wanted to say thanks to the social worker 

[Name], [Name] and [Name] for supporting my 
family and I through this difficult time. Also, extra 

thanks to [Name] as from my previous experience 
I did not like working with social worker but talking 
to [Name] made me feel more comfortable, i felt 

less pressured and more willing to work with 
everyone on this case. 

 
[Name] is fair, honest, down to earth and really 

listened to [Name]. What I liked is she didn't judge 
our past and always knew I could turn to her. It was 
hard at first because [Name] was there when nasty 

things happened to me and has seen me suffer. 
Then she started spending more time upstairs in her 
bedroom, I just thought that's what she wanted but 
when [Name] started to work with us I was upset to 
hear that [Name] said 'my mum doesn't spend time 

with me'. This is where things have changed, thanks 
to [Name] we go out, bake and play games. All my 
life people have told me what to do – [Name] was 
different and helped me to find ways to make my 

own decisions and encouraged to belief in me. The 
early help meetings were good and I looked forward 

to them because people around the table were 
genueine and wanted [Name] to succeed. [Name] is 
no longer hurting herself and has elastic bands to 
help with any thoughts she may have - thanks to 

[Name] this hasn't happened. We needed the 'third 
party' to come in and help. I know I have said ten to 
the other questions - can I change this to 100. We 
are closer than ever and needed the help with our 

relationship. 

Compliments recorded by year 
The below graph shows the year-by-year compliments figures received and 2021/22 shows the 
highest number of compliments received in 14 years. 

 

 

 

134 145
122 126

85
66 68

91
64 78

153

445

502

344

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Page 20



15 

   

 

 

Compliments by category in 2022/23 

The below table shows the compliment themes. A compliment can have more than one 
theme.  

 
 

Categor
y 

Compliment
s received 

Standard of Service  165 
Good communication  36 
Standard of practice (social 
work) 

 119 

Good child focus  45 
Good partnership working  19 

Note: totals may not add up because numbers may fall under more than one category. 

 
Compliments by category received in 2022/23 
The below table shows the breakdown of compliment received from. 

 
 

Compliment from 
Compliment

s received 
Professionals  143 
Parent/Carers  60 
Young Person/Child  12 
Police/Judge/Legal  17 
School/Education  19 
Foster Carers  16 
Adopters  1 
Other  76 

Page 21



16 

   

 

 

Compliments by team 
 

  The below table shows a breakdown figure of number of compliments received per team in 2021/22.  

 
Team Compliments 

Team Central  34 
Team East  38 
Team South  66 
Team West  28 
Responsive Services  8 
Social Work Academy  5 
Youth Offending  49 
Total  228 

 
Team Compliments 

Through Care  49 
Edge of Care  3 
LAC & Permanency  17 
Fostering and Adoption  12 
Placements  6 
Children’s Disability Team  15 
Total  102 

 
Team Compliments 

Safeguarding  3 
Quality Assurance  8 
Children’s Champion  3 
Total  14 

 

Service improvements and learning 
points  
Children’s Services are committed to learning from customer feedback. When complaints highlight where 
things have gone wrong, managers must identify any remedial and developmental action required to 
improve service delivery. 

 
When complaints are received, they are recorded on a database and each concern raised within the 
complaint is logged under a ‘reason of complaint code’. These codes include main categories and 
subcategory subjects. An example of this would be Standard of Service which has the subcategory 
reason codes service level/care plan dispute, lack of/access to/eligibility for service and delay in 
receiving service. It is not unusual for a complainant to raise more than one concern in the same 
complaint. For example, a complainant may submit a complaint about communication and finance 
issues experienced during the same incident, and both concerns along with any additional 
subcategories within the complaint codes would be recorded accordingly under that complaint. 

 

From the 167 formal complaints received, the table below highlights the different types of concerns 
raised within the complaints received in 2022/23 under the main category. This does not show the 
actual number of complaints received but only the main reasons of complaints data. Currently our 

Page 22



17 

   

 

 

system does not capture an individual complaint code breakdown of the outcome of each concern – so 
the figures below reflect the alleged complaint, rather than whether a complaint was upheld or not 
within those specific categories. 

 

Complaint issue/category 
 

Category of concern 
raised 

Number of times 
raised 

Communication 123 
Standards of service 157 
Alleged Staff conduct 25 
Child protection issues 28 
Breach of Confidentiality 6 
Standard of environment 1 
Finance 0 

Resolutions 
All staff dealing with complaints are encouraged to make any reasonable effort to ensure that the 
complaint is resolved. Common resolutions this year mirror the previous years. These are: a full 
explanation of why decisions were made; apologies for mistakes made and any distress caused; a 
change in practitioner, where this could be managed in the best interests of the child; the opportunity 
for complainants to ensure their view is recorded on the social care file; additional monitoring of the 
case through the usual supervision route; provision of advocacy to ensure child’s voice could be heard; 
and to aim to deal with complaints informally in the first instance – this often achieves a positive 
resolution in many cases, which in turn decreases complaint escalation. 

Compensation/Remedy   
The key principle for any financial remedies paid is that a remedy should, as far as possible, put the 
complainant back in the position they would have been in but for the fault identified. Typically, 
compensation will be considered if a service user has had to use their own finances due to the delay 
in offering a service or if their belongings have been damaged or lost through no fault of their own. In 
2022/23 there was one Statutory Complaint which offered a remedy payment of £200.00 that was 
accepted. 

Service Improvements  
Upon completion of the complaint investigation, officers are asked to identify specific service 
improvements as a result of the complaint. On the completion of Stage 2 upheld complaints these are 
regularly monitored by the Complaints Officer and Operational/Strategic Leads of the service areas 
and discussed within the senior leadership meetings for regular review and improvements. 

Examples of some of these improvements include: 
 

 To ensure any reports or assessments are concise and accurate with all information 

detailed in the appropriate depth and these are completed within allocated deadlines. 
 Making certain complaint responses cover all points that have been raised and these are 

addressed in a clear and precise way so complainants can see all points have been 

considered. 
 Ensure all information sharing adheres to the Data Protection Act and all training 

around Data Protection is continued to be completed and up to date. 
 Ensuring complaints are not being investigated by anyone named or implicated in the 

complaint. 
 Clear information being provided about entitlements and appeals process for decision 

Page 23



18 

   

 

 

which are made  

Progression Actions 
A number of actions were identified in the 2021/22 report. Progress on these actions is as follows. 

Complaint Leaflets/External Webpages 
In 2022/23 The complaints information webpages were updated which includes an online and 
downloadable Children’s Complaints Leaflet which outlines the complaints process and stages. In 
2024 the Complaints Team will relaunch a new complaints leaflet which will be available online is due 
course. 

Ongoing revision of the Stage 1 process 
All Stage 1 complaints are monitored and managed more effectively. For the quarters of 2022/2023 the 
average time in days to complete Stage 1 complaints was 6 in Q1, 7 in Q2, 7 in Q3 and 8 working 
days in Q4. Further work has continued in 2022/23 to streamline the process and a more informal 
approach to investigate complaints has been undertaken to ensure that, where possible, complaints 
are not escalated within the complaints process, and are resolved, if possible, informally in the first 
instance. A complaints report is provided to the senior management teams on a quarterly basis 
outlining the themes and average days taken to investigate Stage 1 complaints. 
 

Internal Complaints Investigation Form 
An Internal Investigation Form was launched in 2020/21 to capture additional learning and 
understanding of complaint concerns to ensure service areas and teams consistently improve their 
services and implement any learning necessary.  

Complaints Monitoring Dashboard  
A Complaints monitoring dashboard- was launched in 2021/22 for senior management within 
Children’s Services, to be able to monitor complaints on a daily basis This will ensure timeframe are 
met and any further learning captured. 

Further revision of the Stage 2 process 
There was an increase in completing Stage 2 complaints in 2022/23 with the average time in days to 
completion being 48 working days, compared to 34 working days in 2021/22 however this remained 
within the maximum of 65 working days. The Service Recovery Officers meet managers on a regular 
basis to monitor and manage the Stage 2 complaints to ensure they are completed in a timely manner. 
The quarterly reports include Stage 2 complaints, the timeframe and the themes and any on-going 
learning themes will be shared with service area to implement any learning. 

Investigating Officers External Web Pages 
A step-by-step guide for investigating officers has been in launched in 2022 on our external website. 
The guide is to provide support and guidance for investigating officers on statutory, corporate, and 
informal complaints and this will be updated and refreshed on a yearly basis. 

 

Complaints RAG Report  
A RAG reports provided to teams to ensure managers are able to have an overview of complaints  in their 
area. It enabled current complaints to be monitored weekly and discussed at Management Team 
Meetings on a regular basis, allowing joint working and responses. This process has continued into 
2022/23 as it has been effective in monitoring complaints and any issues arising. 

 

Page 24



19 

   

 

 

Training for Children’s Services and Managers on Complaint Process 
All officers who deal with complaints have recently attended a complaints overview training session 
delivered by the Ombudsman.  The course focused on the complaints journey and how best to 
maximise the contact made with the complainant, e.g., understanding the motivators for complaints 
and the types of outcomes people hope to achieve by complaining.  The course also looked to share 
best practice when responding to complaints so that we take an empathetic and supportive approach 
to complaint resolution. 

Specific service area improvements/learning which have been identified 

Children’s Disability Team 
There have been three complaints made in respect of the Children with Disabilities Team in the last 
12 months. In all three complaints, another Team Manager or Senior Practitioner investigated the 
complaint and whilst two were not upheld and one partially upheld there were clear resolutions 
provided in the best interests of children.  
 
For two of the complaints made it was evident that some families requested a greater level of support 
and provision than what had been agreed and one of the resolutions was to review this within Short 
Breaks Panel. This also relates to the importance of ensuring that there is information available and 
easily accessible to families about the amount of short break hours that they may be entitled to, and 
that this information is shared with families at the outset of involvement. 

 
In terms of actions to be taken forwards there will be an outcome letter developed to ensure that there 
is improved communication around the outcome of short-breaks panel and the rationale behind 
decision-making as we strive to achieve a consistently good service for all children and families. 
 

 

Fostering 
 There were 2 complaints related to the fostering service in 2022-23.  One related to foster carer 
supervision; not having records of supervision in timescales and supervisory visits not being scheduled 
in a planned way.  In response to this, the service has reminded all supervising social workers of the 
fostering recording guidance and reinforced the expectations that records are shared with foster carers 
within 5 working days of the visit taking place.  The second related to arrangements surrounding a 
foster carer and special guardian’s event.  The attendee had a negative experience of the event.  In 
response to this, joining instructions for events have been made more clear ensuring that carers know 
whether the event is a drop in or there is an expected arrival time.   
 
 

Looked After Children (LAC) and Permanency  
During 2022-2023, complaints that were upheld or partially upheld were about a range of different 
issues. The 

themes which were reoccurring within a small number of the complaints. 

1. Families of children in care wanting more family time with children in care 
2. Delays in securing funding for carers of children who have care plans of Special Guardianship/ 

Adoption 

Overall, the complaints reached solutions that families were satisfied with. The learning has identified 
the need to ensure that social workers consider the family time arrangements at each Looked After 
Children’s Review (on a 6 monthly basis), being mindful that the needs of children and families change 
over time. Coventry Children’s Services has a clear policy and process for requesting and approving 

Page 25



20 

   

 

 

financial support for prospective adopters and special guardians. The learning from these complaints 
has highlighted the need to ensure that a refresher session about this process is undertaken with staff 
and that this information is included as part of induction for new starters.  

The Looked After Children and Permanence Service holds monthly service meetings, with a focus on 
best practice.  The learning themes identified from the 2022-2023 complaints will be shared at a service 
meeting during the next quarter. 

 

Multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) and responsive services. 
 
Responsive Services are committed to learning from complaints. From the three complaints received 
between 2022 and 2023, there were no identifiable themes. The findings of these complaints have 
been considered to support in the continuous improvement of services for children, families and 
professionals. It is anticipated that this approach will support in a reduction of the complaints we 
receive year on year. 
We are working restoratively and welcome challenge, to inform practice changes to better support the 
families we work with. It is important to understand the impact of the way in which we communicate 
with families and if there are points of learning we will take these on board to seek to improve families' 
experiences. 
 
Responsive Services are seeking to understand the experiences of families and to encourage greater 
engagement with parents and children making sure they feel involved, are listened to and views are 
clearly recorded in all contacts and referrals.  

Quality and Assurance (Child Protection Conference Chair Service and Participation 
Service) / Child Protection Conference Chair Service 
 
Child Protection (CP) Conference Chair Service 
 

There were two complaints received in respect of this service area over the 22/23 period.  These were 
both received from the same parent of a child subject to a CP Plan.  The first raised concern around the 
alleged behaviour of a CP Conference Chair, allegedly witnessed outside of the workplace and in non-
working hours.  The complainant was informed that the matter could not be investigated within the 
council’s Complaints Procedure and contact details for the Ombudsman were provided as part of the 
outcome letter.    
 
A further complaint was raised and investigated under stage 1 of the council’s Complaints Procedure, by 
the CP Conference Service Manager.  This related to concern about the manner and competence of the 
CP Chair.  The complaint was broken down into 20 separate sections and each were responded to 
individually.  After a thorough investigation, the CP Conference Service Manager found the complaint to 
not be upheld.  The family’s experience however was acknowledged, and it was shared that as an 
outcome, the service would continue to reflect on how this can be improved, including by ensuring that 
the language used is engaging and relational.   
    
The complainant was not satisfied with the outcome, and it was agreed that the matter would be escalated 
to stage 2.  The stage 2 process, however, did not progress as the complainant wanted the investigation 
to be undertaken by a solicitor, rather than an independent investigating officer. 
 
The CP Chair Service has been committed to development over the last year, particularly regarding how 
children, young people and family members are welcomed and included in CP Conferences.  There have 
been significant changes made to CP Conference practice, both from a physical environment perspective, 
and a relational and restorative interaction perspective.  This is in accordance with the Coventry Children’s 
Services Family Valued practice principles, and the overall shared view that working in partnership with 

Page 26



21 

   

 

 

families, leads to better outcomes for children and young people. 
 
During 2022/23, the CP Conference Service Manager was also asked to consider a historical complaint 
raised by an individual in relation to their experience as a child, during the 1970s and 1980s.  The Service 
Manager was able to explain that it would not be possible to investigate the issues via the Children’s 
Services complaints procedure, due to the time that had lapsed.  He was however able to support the 
complainant by: 
 

 Clarifying the Children’s Services records they had been provided with access to regarding their 

childhood, 

 Enquiring with the Coventry and Warwickshire Partnership Trust Community Mental Health Team, 

the Police, and the Education Service, as to how the complainant could access any records 

regarding their childhood held by these organisations. 

The CP Conference Service Manager acknowledged the complainant’s frustrations regarding the 
limitation regarding investigating historic complaints and sought assurances that the complainant had 
appropriate support in place to help them manage the impact of their experiences. 
 
There was no specific learning forward from this complaint.   
 
Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) Service 
There were 2 complaints in relation to this service area raised over 2022/23, both of which progressed to 
stage 2.   
The first was raised by parents who were dissatisfied with the process of investigation, and outcome 
reached, for a childcare organisation they had concerns about.   The complaint was investigated by the 
Risk Management Coordinator, responsible for the LADO Service, and was found to not be upheld.  The 
following learning for the LADO Service was identified: 
 

 Response to concerns about threshold decisions to be prompt and to include signposting to 

appropriate services, 

 The need for language to be clear and well understood, 
 Timely communications and recording within the Children’s Services electronic recording system. 

The complainant requested that the matter be escalated to stage 2, where 4 issues were reviewed by an 
Independent Investigating Officer.  The Adjudicating Officer agreed with the outcome whereby 2 of the 4 
elements of the stage 2 complaint were not upheld, 1 resulted in there being no finding made, and 1 was 
upheld. The learning is incorporated above.            
 
A formal apology was issued on behalf of Coventry City Council to the complainant in relation to 
improvements that had since been made to LADO recording systems and on-going quality assurance 
activity taking place to inform continuous learning and development. 
 
The second complaint raised to the LADO Service during 2022/23, related to concerns regarding allegedly 
poor manner of communication from the LADO, towards a vulnerable adult and their support worker.   

  
The complaint was investigated by the Risk Management Coordinator, responsible for the LADO Service, 
and the 5 separate elements of the complaint were concluded to either be not upheld, or no findings 
made.   
 
The matter was reviewed further at Stage 2 at the request of the complainant, in relation to 3 further 
issues around communication.  The elements of the stage 2 complaint were upheld, and an apology was 
issued on behalf of the LADO Service.  It was also shared that learning for the LADO, and the LADO 
Service, around communication had been progressed, to ensure that this accorded with the Coventry 

Page 27



22 

   

 

 

Family Valued principles of relational and restorative practice. 
 
The LADO Service takes all complaints seriously. Learning is carefully considered by the responsible 
managers and translated into actions plans for improvement.  
 
 
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service 
There were no complaints received regarding the IRO Service received over the reporting period. 
 

Social Work Academy 

The operational teams in the social work academy support cohorts of Newly Qualified Social Workers 
into the service (NQSWs). The Academy develops NQSWs through their continuous professional 
development journey, particularly as new social workers stepping into professional and accountable 
practice. Effectively, new staff consistently join and pass through the service. The learning relates to this 
stage in the Social Worker career. The learning feeds into the Coventry Family Valued program, and the 
development of relational, restorative practices and value base when working with families. The evolved 
practice methodology “The Coventry Way” will significantly update the Academy offer and connect the 
underpinning theories and principles to practice delivery and will shape the future career of NQSWs as 
they grow and develop further in Coventry. Relational and restorative practice connect this to “a way of 
being” and will build the foundations as learning is taken forward. The team managers will connect and 
align closely to this work to enable this transition 
 

Team Central 

Team Central Between 2022 and 2023 complaints have continued to reduce as restorative practice is 
embedded. 

  From the complaints either upheld or partially upheld there are 2 common themes: 

1) Communication 

2)  Conduct of the Social Worker 

Social Workers are encouraged to respond to families and professionals in a timely way.  Social workers 
have been trained in Family Valued Relational Practice which should ensure that families feel included 
valued and respected throughout the process of our interventions. Guidance around expectations of 
Social Workers is now embedded in the form of Practice Standards and recording guidance so the team 
are clear on what constitutes best practice. Any complaints are personally addressed with individuals at 
the time by the Team Manager. Furthermore, learning from complaints remain on the agenda of 
supervision sessions, team meetings and whole team meetings.  Central have embedded a system 
where we routinely seek service user feedback every month and, we discuss the feedback in the team 
and the learning themes. 

 
 

Team East 

During this year, there have been 8 less complaints from children and families who we work with in 
comparison to the last year. This supports the East area’s commitment to improving our service delivery 
and engagement with children and families and use of restorative practice.  

The themes which are present in the complaints from children and families, includes the following:  
Page 28



23 

   

 

 

1. Communication   
2. Conduct of the Social Worker 
3. Parents feeling unclear of process. 

To support positive practice the East area has challenged poor practice where it has been identified 
through individual supervision or team meetings with bespoke short sessions run by the Team 
Managers. All new and agency staff are trained in line with Family Valued and guidance around 
expectation of staff is embedded in the form of practice standards and recording guidance, so all are 
clear what constitutes best practice. The Restorative Practice leads are utilised weekly which is 
strengthening practice across the service. The Team Managers are becoming leaders, leading by 
example and complaints are addressed promptly with attempts made by the Team Managers to locally 
resolve. 

 

Team South 

 The main findings from complaints about the social work provided by the South area that have 
been upheld or partially upheld relates to ensuring records are professional and parents are 
provided with these in a timely way. 

 for one family a lack of clarity about expectations of the father and the plan for his children; and, 
 for another family, the need to avoid being biased towards one parent over another. 

The South area is focusing on ensuring more timely support, with records being more professional and 
is utilising support from Restorative Practice Leads to ensure that families are supported in a restorative 
way. 

 

Team West 

During this year, there have been a number of complaints from children and families that we work with 
in relation to communication, escalation of children’s plans and conduct of social workers. Social 
Workers in the West have all received Restorative Practice training within service meetings to consider 
how best to work with families. In respect of learning from complaints, we have embedded a system 
whereby a peer Team Manager investigates any complaint to ensure that our families feel that there is 
an independent person considering their complaint and meeting with all individuals involved. This has 
prevented complaints from escalating further and families have reported feeling happy about the 
remedial actions that have been put in place. The West area pride themselves on working with families 
in a restorative manner and ensuring that families are at the centre of all that we do. All learning from 
complaints is feedback to practitioners to ensure that we continue to improve upon the service that we 
deliver to children and families.  
 

Through Care 

A review of the complaints received by the Through Care service has identified that communication is the 
main theme and reason why complaints are partially upheld. The communication issue is what leads to 
matters ending in complaints and could be resolved much earlier.  As a result of the review a targeted 
group supervision session in respect of communication and Coventry Family Valued principles will be 
held. Communication that is timely has been a priority within the service and learning is disseminated 
within manager meetings and developmental sessions. 

Page 29



24 

   

 

 

The feedback from complaints continues to be an agenda item on a weekly basis within the management 
team and key themes are shared within team meetings to ensure we have a continued focus on any areas 
for improvement. 

 

  
  

Page 30



25 

   

 

 

 Page 31



26 

   

 

 

 
 

Further information 
Further information about complaints and representations and a copy of the Council’s complaints 
policy and complaints handling guidance is available at www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/. 

 
 

 

 

Ilius Ahmed 

Service Recovery Officer 

Customer Services – Improvement & Development 

April 2024 

 

Kelly Boyce 

Service Recovery Officer 

Customer Services – Improvement & Development 

April 2024 

 

Steve Paterson 

Service Recovery Officer 

Customer Services – Improvement & Development 

April 2024 

 

Ombudsman Liaison Officer 

Service Recovery Officer 

Customer Services – Improvement & Development 

April 2024 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32

https://smarturl.it/cov-complaints-guide
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/


   

 

 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

Complaints 

Handling Guidance 
Guidance for managers and officers dealing 

with comments, compliments, and complaints 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/ 

Page 7

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/


COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL 
2 

 

Table of contents 
Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 3 

About this guide ................................................................................................................................. 3 

Making things right ............................................................................................................................ 3 

The complaints policy ........................................................................................................................ 3 

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman ........................................................................ 4 

Roles and responsibilities ..................................................................................................................... 4 

Customer services ............................................................................................................................ 4 

Investigating officers ......................................................................................................................... 4 

Complaints co-ordination ................................................................................................................... 4 

Complaints co-ordination role................................................................................................................ 5 

Process flowchart .............................................................................................................................. 5 

Getting help .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

The complaints information hub ......................................................................................................... 5 

Getting help ....................................................................................................................................... 5 

Complaint processes, stages and escalation ......................................................................................... 6 

Escalation of complaints .................................................................................................................... 6 

Escalation to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman ............................................................. 7 

Remedies, compensation and financial redress ................................................................................. 7 

Learning from complaints: the complaints investigation log report ................................................................ 7 

Equality monitoring ............................................................................................................................ 7 

Privacy and information governance ..................................................................................................... 7 

Social care and corporate complaints process flowchart ........................................................................ 9 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman process complaints guidance ........................................... 10 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman process flowchart ............................................................. 11 
 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 

Page 8



COMPLIMENTS, COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 

3 

 

Introduction 
About this guide 
This document is an internal document that provides guidance for managers and officers dealing with 
comments, compliments and complaints. It is to be read in conjunction with the complaints policy at 
www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/. In line with the Council’s values to be open, honest and transparent, this 
guide is made available to members of the public too. 

 

Making things right 
Coventry City Council is committed to putting local people and their needs at the heart of what it does. As 
employees of the Council, we work to ensure that people have a positive and trouble-free experience with us in 
all transactions and interactions. However, sometimes things go wrong. When things go wrong, we encourage 
people to speak up, so that we can make things right. 

 
Effective management and resolution of complaints, as well as learning from complaints, help ensure that 
Council services meet the needs of local residents and communities, and helps build a foundation of trust in 
order for the Council to have new conversations with residents, communities and partners to enable people to 
do more for themselves as active and empowered citizens. A key principle of this is continuous improvement, 
and this includes reviewing the Council’s complaints processes and systems to ensure consistency and 
improve the way the Council serve the people of Coventry. 

 

The complaints policy 
Coventry City Council’s complaints policy sets out how individual members of the public can complain to the 
Council, as well as how the Council handle compliments, comments and complaints. Where possible, 
complaints should be resolved informally. If this is not possible, they can formally complain to the Council. 

 
The complaints policy can be found at: www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/. The policy defines complaints as 
“any expression of dissatisfaction about the standard of service, actions, or lack of action by the Council or its 
employees, which the customer feels should have been provided”. 

 
Depending on the subject and nature of the complaint, a different pathway is followed: 

 complaints about Children’s Services including care homes and other providers commissioned by the 
Council follow the statutory process for representations made by or on behalf of children using social 
care services provided by / commissioned by the Council arising from the arising from the Children Act 
1989; 

 complaints about Adult Services including care homes and other providers commissioned by the 
Council follow the statutory process for representations made by or on behalf of an adult using social 
care services provided by / commissioned by the Council arising from the Local Authority Social 
Services and National Health Services Complaints Regulations 2009; 

 all other complaints relating to Council services are dealt with by the corporate complaints policy. 
 

Note that complaints about non-Council services, for instance, schools, hospitals; complaints by employees; or 
complaints about elected members (councillors) are outside the scope of the complaints policy. 

 
The Council strives to act in accordance with best practice. This includes: 

 the National Complaints Managers' Group (May 2016) Good Practice guidance for handling complaints 
concerning adults and children social care services; 

 guidance from the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO): 
o guidance on good complaint handling (for instance, running a complaints system; managing 

unreasonable complaint behaviours and remedies); and 
o single complaints statement guidance for councils and care providers on best practice in 

receiving and dealing with comments, complaints and feedback about their services. 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 

Page 9

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/
https://www.adass.org.uk/media/5360/good-practice-guidance-final-09062016.pdf
https://www.adass.org.uk/media/5360/good-practice-guidance-final-09062016.pdf
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/guidance-notes
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2018/jul/adult-social-care-guides-launched-to-help-providers-deal-with-complaints-better


COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL 
4 

 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 

 

The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
The LGSCO is the final stage for complaints about councils, all adult social care providers (including care 
homes and home care agencies) and some other organisations providing local public services. It is a free 
service that investigate complaints in a fair and independent way; and provides a means of redress to 
individuals for injustice caused by unfair treatment or service failure. 

 
If a complainant has exhausted all of the Council’s own complaints process, and remain dissatisfied with the 
Council’s decision and/or its handling of the complaint, they have the right to take the complaint to the LGSCO. 
When a complaint has exhausted the Council’s complaints procedure, they are informed of this right – and 
provided detail with how to contact the LGSCO. 

 

Roles and responsibilities 
Customer services 
Complaints by members of the public should typically be made through customer services: 

 
Web: https://www.coventry.gov.uk/form_speakup 
Email: customer.services@coventry.gov.uk 
Telephone: 08085 834 333 

 
Members of the public may also choose to seek help and advice from elected members (councillors) or from 
agencies (such as Citizens Advice, or the Ombudsman) for help and support in making their complaint. These 
complaints should also be passed to customer services to ensure it is recorded and tracked on Dash. 
 

Resident experience team 
When a resident asks to make a complaint, the advisor will select ‘Resident experience team’ as the function area. This team will 
then triage all complaints, before sending them to the relevant areas of the organisation. This team have been put in place to 
actively welcome and encourage resident feedback, and they will aim to resolve complaints informally. Depending on the nature 
of the complaint, the Resident experience team may just hand it straight off to the service recovery team who will handle it as a 
formal complaint. 

 

Investigating officers 
Complaints should be dealt with by the individual service area in line with the complaints policy. The officer 
leading the complaint response is known as the investigating officer. 

 

Complaints co-ordination 
The Complaints Team provides a co-ordination function for social care, corporate and complaints escalated to 
Ombudsman. The complaints co-ordination function also: 

 manages the 3Cs Info Hub, a one-stop shop on the intranet; 

 holds regular meetings with managers and advocacy services to provide progress updates and discuss 
cases; 

 appoints independent investigators and facilitate service investigations and reviews, in conjunction with 
children’s services and commissioning; 

 provides regular reports and statistics on complaint numbers, timescales and key messages to senior 
management; and 

 produce annual reports. 

Page 10

https://www.coventry.gov.uk/form_speakup
mailto:customer.services@coventry.gov.uk


COMPLIMENTS, COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 

5 

 

 

Monitor email inboxes and e-post for incoming complaints. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Forward (i.) details of the complaint and (ii.) investigation log 

report or LGSCO email template to the relevant Customer 
Services Manager / Investigating Officer informing them what they 

need to do and the deadline. 

Update database/tracker/log with progress and learning / 
improvements from complaints. 

 
Respond to complainant and/or LGSCO. 

Liaise with the Customer Service Manager / Investigating Officer 
to ensure evidence collected and a response / statement written. 

Log details such as complainant, investigating officer and 
deadlines onto the relevant database/tracker. 

Complaint’s co-ordination role 
Process flowchart 
The following flowchart sets out how the complaints co-ordination process handles complaints and 
representations from members of the public: 

 

Getting help 
The complaints information hub 
Further guidance, reports and information available for Council staff on the Complaints, Comments and 
Compliments Information Hub (3Cs Info Hub) at https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/sites/3CsInfoHub/. 

 

Getting help 
If an investigating officer needs help in responding to a complaint, please speak to your line manager at first 
instance. If you need further help, please contact: 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 

Page 11

https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/sites/3CsInfoHub


COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL 
6 

 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 

Statutory social care complaints 

 Adult social care complaints: AdultSocialCareCustomerRelations@coventry.gov.uk 

 Children’s social care complaints: CLYPCustomerRelations@coventry.gov.uk  

Corporate complaints 

 Corporate complaints: Customer.Services@coventry.gov.uk 
 

Ombudsman Link Officer 

 Coventry City Council’s Ombudsman Link Officer: Ombudsman@coventry.gov.uk 
 

Complaint processes, stages and escalation 
The key stages of the Council’s complaints processes are as follows: 

 
Type Corporate Adult social care Children’s social care LGSCO 

Stages Resident experience team 
will work towards Informal 
resolution. 

Informal resolution Informal resolution Enquiry and assessment 

 Stage 1: service Stage 1: local resolution Stage 1: local resolution Investigation 
 investigation  Stage 2: investigation Decision and remedy 
 Stage 2: service  Stage 3: review panel  

 investigation review    

Timescales 

(in working 
days) 

Acknowledgement: 3 
days 
Stage 1: 10 days 
Stage 2: 20 days 

Acknowledgement: 3 
days 
Stage 1: 20 days 

Acknowledgement: 3 
days 
Stage 1: 10 (to 201) days 
Stage 2: 25 (to 651) days 
Stage 3: 30 days 

Enquiry: 1-3 days 
Investigation: 20 days 
Draft decision: 5-10 days 
Remedy: as set out in the 
final decision statement 

 Please note that between 
Stage 1-2 escalation, we will 
always try to resolve issues 
informally before progressing 
to the next stage. 

  
Please note that between 
Stage 1-3 escalation, we will 
always try to resolve issues 
informally before progressing 
to the next stage. 

 

Services All other services2
 Adult social care Children’s social care All 

Recording On the corporate 
customer relationship 
management system, 
Dash. 

On the corporate system, 
Dash plus the social care 
complaints database. 

On the corporate system, 
Dash plus the social care 
complaints database. 

On the Tracker on the 
Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman 
management portal. 

Reporting Quarterly summary trends 
and indicators on the 3Cs 

Info Hub3. 

Weekly progress reports provided on the 3Cs Info Hub 
and regular progress meetings held with relevant 
managers. Quarterly trend and context provided to 
relevant management team and via dashboards. 
Annual report to the relevant Cabinet Member. 

Upheld complaints 
referred to the Monitoring 
Officer for follow-up 
action. Quarterly trends 
and context on the 3Cs 
Info Hub. Annual report to 
relevant committees and 
relevant Cabinet Member. 

 

Escalation of complaints 
If the complainant is not satisfied with the outcome of the investigation, and they consider that one or more of 
the following apply: relevant information was not taken into account in investigating the complaint; procedures 
have not been properly applied in handling the complaint; there has been an incorrect interpretation of Council 
policy, they can ask for the complaint to be reviewed via a service investigation review. The review will either be 
conducted by a senior manager of the service or, a senior officer or manager outside the line management of 
the service depending on the circumstances. 

 
 

 

1 This is the maximum extension for complex cases as defined by the statutory guidance. 
2 All other services, e.g.: adult education; benefits and tax; children’s transport; corporate, finance and legal; education and libraries (except schools or 
education admissions appeals); environmental services (including household waste collections, noise complaints); housing services; planning; parking, etc. 
3 Indicators currently provided on the corporate dashboard accessible via the 3Cs Info Hub and the Performance Hub. 

Page 12

mailto:AdultSocialCareCustomerRelations@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:CLYPCustomerRelations@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:Customer.Services@coventry.gov.uk
mailto:Ombudsman@coventry.gov.uk
https://coventrycc-dash.achieveservice.com/Dashboard
https://coventrycc-dash.achieveservice.com/Dashboard
https://coventrycc-dash.achieveservice.com/Dashboard
https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/sites/ProjectHub/PeopleStandProj/LGSCO/Lists/Tracker
https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/sites/3CsInfoHub
https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/sites/3CsInfoHub
https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/sites/3CsInfoHub
https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/sites/3CsInfoHub
https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/sites/3CsInfoHub


COMPLIMENTS, COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 

7 

 

The complainant will be expected to explain, in writing or verbally, the grounds for seeking a review. With 
children’s social care complaints, in line with the Department for Education statutory guidance for local authority 
children’s services on representations and complaints procedures, a complaint may be escalated to a Stage 2 
investigation or Stage 3 review panel if a complainant wishes for it to do so. When this happens, a senior officer 
will always work with the complainant to see if the complaint can be resolved without escalation first. 

 

Escalation to the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
If a complainant is unhappy about the way the Council has dealt with their complaint, they can contact the 
LGSCO. The LGSCO would normally expect a complaint to be made within twelve months of when the 
complainant first knew of the problem that they are complaining about, and normally require all complainants to 
go through all stages of the Council’s own procedure before considering the complaint. However, in certain 
circumstances the LGSCO has the discretion to waive this requirement. Note that a complainant can approach 
the LGSCO at any stage of the complaints process. 

 

Remedies, compensation and financial redress 
The key principle for any financial remedies paid is that a remedy should, as far as possible, put the 
complainant back in the position they would have been in but for the fault identified. Any financial redress 
should be agreed with the relevant director, in line with LGSCO guidance set out at 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/guidance-notes. Where a complaint has gone to the LGSCO, 
the local authority has the option of suggesting a remedy to resolve the complaint – or to accept the LGSCO’s 
recommendation. 

 

Learning from complaints: the complaints investigation log report 
It is important for services to treat complaints as an opportunity to learn lessons from previous experiences. By 
learning from complaints, services can become more responsive to the needs of residents. Upon completion of 
a complaint investigation, investigating officers are asked to complete a complaints investigation log report. This 
will provide additional learning from the complaints received, for example, improvements to training or to inform 
changes to procedures. The Council regularly publishes reports on complaints, including lessons learned, to 
ensure that complaints are properly communicated to elected members. 

 

Equality monitoring 
It is important to ensure any equality dimensions identified through complaints are addressed and rectified. 
Operationally, it is important that equality data such as the protected characteristics such as ethnicity, sex and 
disability status is collected as part of handling complaints; and issues are raised to the strategic equality, 
diversity and inclusion project board. This will enable the Council to identify if its complaints policy is operating 
as intended, eliminate discrimination and advance equality of opportunity in line with the public sector equality 
duty. 

 

Privacy and information governance 
Please remember that complaints, investigations and information about it are private and confidential 
and must not be disclosed to third parties. 

 

Our summary privacy notice states: 
We will use the information you provide to handle your complaint in line with the Council’s complaints 
policy available at www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/. We may share this information with other 
organisations which may include independent external investigators, children’s advocacy services and the 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. We will only share your information if this is part of 
solving your complaint. More information on how we handle personal information and your rights under the 
data protection legislation can be found in the full Privacy Notice: www.coventry.gov.uk/privacynotice/. 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 

Page 13

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/guidance-notes
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/privacynotice/


COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL 
8 

 

You can help ensure that we protect people’s information by ensuring that you follow the Council’s information 
governance and data protection policies. In particular, please: 

 ensure that any correspondence containing personal or confidential data is sent in a password 
protected zip archive with the password provided in a separate email; and 

 double-check people’s names, contact details, email addresses, mailing addresses and telephone 
numbers! 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 

Page 14



COMPLIMENTS, COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 

9 

 

Corporate complaints process: 

Stage 1: service investigation 

-START- 

IND makes a complaint 

-END- 

Social care and corporate complaints 
process flowchart 

 

 

NO 
Is this a complaint about a school? 

YES 

 
 

YES 
Has this complaint been dealt with before? 

NO
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

YES 

 

YES 
 

Is the IND satisfied? 

 

NO 

Is this a complaint about adult or NO 

children’s social care? 

Social care complaints process: 

Stage 1: local resolution 

 
CSD records complaint on Dash, forwards complaint to CO to 

record on SCCD, and forwards complaint to IO. 

 
IO investigates complaint, liaising with social workers, social care 

professionals, advocate (children’s), and external / commissioned 

services as required; drafts response letter and sends to relevant 

manager or director for approval. Once approved response is sent 

to IND and sent to CO with the investigation report to record on 

SCCD. 

 

Is the IND satisfied? 
 

NO 

 
NO 

Is this a children’s social care complaint? 

 
YES 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
YES 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Is the IND satisfied? 

 
NO 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
YES 

 

 
 

Can complaint progress to NO 

Stage 2? 

 
 
 
 
 
 

NO* 

 

 
Is the IND satisfied? 

 
NO 

Can complaint progress to 

Stage 2? 

 
 

YES 
 

 
YES 

YES 

SIO reviews complaint investigation and drafts response 

letter/completes investigation log and sends to relevant 

director for approval. SIO sends approved letter sent to 

IND informing them of outcome and also sent to CSD to 

record on Dash. IND also informed they can contact the 

LGSCO if they remain unsatisfied. 

-END- 

 

 
 

NO 
Is the IND satisfied? 

YES 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NO* 

 
 
 
 

Is the IND satisfied? 

 
NO 

Can complaint progress to 

Stage 3? 

 
 

 
YES 

 

 
YES 

Abbreviations 

CSD: Customer Services Department 

CO: Complaints Officer 

Dash: Corporate customer relationship management system 

IND: Individual (the complainant) 

IO: Investigating  Officer  (usually  a team manager) 

LGSCO: Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

SCCD: Social care complaints database 

SIO: Senior Investigating Officer (usually a senior manager) 

 

  
* on rare occasions a complaint may not progress to the next stage, (e.g. out of timescale) 

CO selects review panel members and inform CSD. CSD makes the necessary arrangements for the review panel. Panel 

review undertaken and recommendations made to relevant director, who drafts a response letter and sends to deputy chief 

executive for approval and copies in CO. Once letter achieved and signed by deputy chief executive, letter is sent to IND and 

for CO to record on SCCD. Letter will inform IND if they remain unsatisfied they can contact the LGSCO. 

-END- 

IND informed they 

can contact the 

LGSCO if they 

remain unsatisfied. 

Dash updated. 

-END- 

-END- 

-END- 

CO selects independent officer and informs CSD and relevant senior manager or strategic lead of decision and interview 

arrangements. Independent investigation undertaken and recommendation provided to relevant senior manager or 

director. Relevant senior manager drafts response letter, sends to relevant director and CO. Relevant director approves 

letter and sends back to relevant senior manager and CO. CO sends letter to IND and records on SCCD. 

-END- 

Stage 3: review panel 

CO informs SIO and records on SCCD and informs CSD to record 

on Dash. SIO contacts IND and sees if the complaint can be 

resolved without going to a formal Stage 3 review panel. 

Stage 2: investigation 

CO writes to IND informing 

them of decision and informs 

IND they can contact the 

LGSCO if they remain 

unsatisfied. 

-END- 

IND informs CO (directly, or via CSD) requesting a Stage 2 

investigation. CO informs SIO and records on SCCD and informs 

CSD to record on Dash. SIO (a senior manager or strategic lead) 

contacts IND and explore if the complaint can be resolved in other 

ways before commencing a formal Stage 2 investigation. 

IND informs CO (directly, or via CSD) requesting Stage 2 review. CO 

checks if review criteria met and consults IND as appropriate. 

Stage 2: service investigation review 

-END- 

IO investigates complaint, liaising with officers and external / 

commissioned services as required; drafts response letter and 

complete investigation log report sends to relevant manager for 

approval. Once approved response is sent to IND and sent to CSD 

to record on Dash. 

CSD records complaint on Dash, sends acknowledgement of 

receipt of complaint to IND and forwards complaint to IO. 

-END- 

Service to attempt to resolve 

complaint informally. 

Jump to relevant social care 

or corporate Stage 2 process. 

IND advised to complain 

directly to school. 

-END- 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 

Page 15



COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL 
10 

 

Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman process complaints guidance 

Stage Notes 

Enquiry / 
assessment 

The request will have a short deadline of between 1 to 3 working days. At this stage, the LGSCO 
will ask the Council for a copy of its formal complaint responses; and confirmation that the complaint 
has fully completed the Council’s complaints process. The request will not include any new actions 
and should be returned to the Link Officer by the date specified. 

Premature If a complaint has not completed the Council’s own complaints process, the LGSCO Intake team will 
ask the complainant to contact the Council. Alternatively the LGSCO will return the complaint as a 
“premature” complaint for consideration under the Council’s complaint process. The Link Officer will 
send the relevant department the information using the premature email template. It is important to 
remind complainant of their right to complain again to the LGSCO when they exhaust the Council’s 
complaints process. Following completion of the complaints process (whether it is resolved or not), a 
copy of the final response should be sent to the Link Officer. 

Investigation The Link Officer will send a covering email using the Ombudsman detailed investigation template 
which includes the statement document requesting a written response to the LGSCO’s questions. 
This needs to be returned by a set deadline, usually within 18 working days, so that the deadline 
(within 20 working days) can be met. The response must be provided as a statement, providing 
general comments as well as responses to each of the questions. It must also include the name and 
role of the author, and be signed off by the Director or a nominated person. Any supporting 
evidence must be provided as electronic attachments and referenced in the statement. Any 
information that cannot be shared with the complainant should be clearly marked and packaged 
separately. It may be necessary to seek legal advice and/or liaise with commissioned services and 
partner organisations as appropriate. The Link Officer needs confirmation that this has been done (in 
the form of an email trail). If the LGSCO investigator has asked us to consider whether we are 
prepared to remedy any injustice that may have been caused – we should comment on this as this is 
an opportunity for us to resolve the issue. 

Draft decision Following the investigation, the LGSCO will typically issue a draft decision statement. This will state 
whether the complaint was upheld or not, and detail the investigator’s findings and explains the 
decision made. At this stage, the Council is asked whether it agrees with the decision and remedy. 
This is an opportunity to comment on the decision, and suggest any changes or corrections. At this 
stage, remedial actions must not be taken yet – remedies should only be completed after the final 
decision. We are usually requested to respond within 5-10 working days. Note: the investigator may 
choose to issue a decision as a report (under Section 30(1) of the Local Government Act 1974) in 
which case the Council’s Monitoring Officer is notified. 

Final decision The final decision letter and statement should be circulated, as appropriate, to everyone who was 
involved in the investigation and everyone who needs to know of the investigation outcomes. Action 
on remedies should now be completed. In cases where the LGSCO makes a finding of 
maladministration, the final decision letter and statement is also forwarded by the Link Officer to the 
Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer will decide if any further action is required. 

Remedy The LGSCO aims to remedy personal injustice when its investigations reveal there has been fault. 
Remedies are not intended to be punitive and are not just about money: the remedies also look into 
the root causes and recommend improvements to systems when they haven't worked properly, so 
that others do not suffer the same problems in future. The LGSCO monitors compliance with the 
remedy – and the Link Officer will work with the complaints representative in the relevant service 
area to ensure that the remedies are completed to the satisfaction of the complainant and the 
LGSCO. Confirmation and evidence that all actions required, as per the final decision letter and 
statement. This can be as soon as within 5-10 working days; or longer for more complex issues. 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 

Page 16



COMPLIMENTS, COMMENTS AND COMPLAINTS 

11 

 

 
End 

Link Officer informs the complaints representative and updates Tracker. 

 
 

Can the LGSCO make a 

decision? 

LGSCO issues draft decision statement* setting out proposed remedies. 

Link Officer forwards draft decision to the complaints representative 

for comment (usually 5-10 working days) and returns comments to 

LGSCO. Please remember: no actions on remedies at this stage. 

The complainant is also given the opportunity to comment on 

the draft decision. 

Yes 

The Link Officer then works with the complaints representative to ensure 

that the response is complete, that documents are clearly marked, and 

the statement clearly states the name/role of the person who signed off 

the complaint. Once satisfied, the Link Officer sends a response to the 

LGSCO with a covering email; files a copy of all correspondence in 
the management portal on SharePoint and updates the Tracker. 

Is this a full investigation? 

Is the LGSCO satisfied? No 

Yes 

The Link Officer then works with the complaints representative to ensure 

that the response and any statement is completed. 

Once satisfied, the Link Officer sends a response to the LGSCO; 

files a copy of all correspondence in the management portal on 

SharePoint and updates the Tracker. 

The complaints representative works with the relevant service area to… 

1. collect the information/documents requested in an electronic 

format – seeking legal advice and/or liaising with commissioned 

services and partner organisations as appropriate; and 

2. send documents requested back to Link Officer; and 

liaise with Link Officer if an extension is required. 

The complaints representative works with the relevant service area to… 

1. collect the information/documents requested in an electronic 

format – seeking legal advice and/or liaising with commissioned 

services and partner organisations as appropriate; 

2. puts together a statement providinggeneral comments as well 

as response to each of the LGSCO’squestions and referencing 

the information/documents in the statement; and ensures 

that documents that CANNOT be shared with the complaint 

is clearly marked; 

3. gets the statement signed off by a Director or a person 

with delegated authority on behalf of the Director; and 

4. send statement and requested documents back to Link Officer; 

and liaise with Link Officer if an extension is required. 

The Link Officer using the relevant email template 

1. forwards complaint to relevant complaints representative informing 

them of the information requested and deadline 

(usually within two working days); 

2. records information on the Tracker and sets up a case file 

on the LGSCOmanagement portal (on SharePoint). 

The Link Officer using the detailed investigation and statement template 

1. forwards complaint to relevant complaints representative informing 

them of the information requested and deadline 

(usually within 18 working days); 

2. records information on the Tracker and sets up a case file 

on the LGSCOmanagement portal (on SharePoint). 

No – this is an enquiry / assessment Yes – this is a full investigation 

 
Email from Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) 

arrives in Coventry City Council LGSCO Link Officer mailbox 

(Ombudsman@coventry.gov.uk). 

 
Remedies 

The LGSCO monitors compliance with the remedy – and the Council’s 

Link Officer will work with the complaints representative in the relevant 

service area to ensure that the remedies are completed to the 

satisfaction of the complainant and the LGSCO. 

Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman process flowchart 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
Link Officer works with the complaints representative 

to provide the additional information requested. 
No 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
* Note: in cases of serious maladministration, the LGSCO may issue a decision with a report 

instead of a statement. In such a case, the Council’s Monitoring Officer is also immediately 

notified, as well as the Chief Executive and the relevant Deputy Chief Executive, for immediate 

action and referral to elected members as required. 
 

End 

After taking on board the comments from both the complainant 

and the Council, the LGSCO issues a final decision statement*. The 

Link Officer forwards this to the relevant complaints representative, who 

liaises with the service to ensure that any remedies/actions agreed in the 

statement are completed within the agreed deadlines; and 

request confirmation that the remedies/actions have been 

completed. Link Officer then files correspondence on the case file on the 

LGSCO management portal; updates the Tracker and the PI sheet 

with the decision tables. Once remedies are completed, the Link Officer 

reports back to the LGSCO. Wherethe complaint is upheld with a finding 

of maladministration, the final decision is also sent to the Monitoring 

Officer for further action as required. 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 

Page 17



COVENTRY CITY COUNCIL 
12 

 

C
o
m

p
la

in
ts

 h
a
n
d
lin

g
 g

u
id

a
n
ce

 Version control 
Document Location 
Published location: https://smarturl.it/cov-complaints-guide 
SharePoint: https://coventrycc.sharepoint.com/teams/ChiefExec/PublicHealth/Insight/Documents/Complaints handling guidance 2020.docx 

 

Reviewing arrangements 
This guidance is reviewed annually with the annual complaints report. 

 

Revision History 
Revision date Summary of Changes 

13/09/2018 3.1 Integrated guidance, combining previously separate complaints handling guidance for the Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman and People Directorate and social care into one document. 

04/09/2019 4.0 Updated with new section on roles and responsibilities, updated with the new complaint’s investigation 
log and statement template. 

20/09/2019 4.1 Added section on equality monitoring. 

14/09/2020 5.0 Updated to clarify changes in Ombudsman handling procedure regarding premature complaints and 
reflect organisational changes. 

19/09/2021 6.2 Updated Complaint, Process, Stages and Escalation table to reflect an informal review between each 
stage of the complaint’s procedure before escalation to the next stage. 

09/06/2022 Complaints Policy page 3 Social care changed to services 

23/02/2024 Information relating to ‘Resident experience team’ has been added. 

Page 18



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Coventry City Council 
 
 

 

www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/ 
Page 19

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/complaints/


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Children's Services Comments, Compliments and Complaints Annual Report 2022/23
	Childrens Services Annual Report 2022 2023
	Complaints Handling Guidance 2023 24


